1978

Carl Winsness and Associates, A Partnership v. M.J. Conoco Distributors, Inc., A Utah Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by plaintiff against defendant corporation relating to a lease of a service station in Delle, Utah. Plaintiff-lessor alleged that defendant-lessee breached the leasing agreement by failing to keep the service station open for 24 hours a day, by incorrectly reporting the number of gallons pumped in the station during certain months, by failing to construct a sewage lagoon, by failing to keep the premises in good repair, and for punitive damages.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

A jury trial commenced in Tooele County on June 14, 1977 before the Honorable Peter F. Leary of the Third Judicial District. After four days of testimony plaintiff concluded his case. Defendant then moved for a directed verdict as to all five counts. The court directed a verdict as to the second, third, fourth, and fifth causes of action and reserved the first

cause of action for later determination. (Transcript, hereinafter Tr., pp. A-45 to A-47).

Subsequently, the trial court directed a verdict as to the first cause of action and dismissed the jury. (Tr., pp. 533-535).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff-appellant seeks a new trial as to its first and third causes of action.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 24, 1971 a lease was entered into between Carl Winsness and Associates, plaintiff-appellant, and M. J. Conoco Distributors, Inc., defendant-respondent. (Exhibit, hereinafter Ex. 5). The lease concerned a service station in Delle, Utah which is 72 miles east of Wendover and 51 miles west of Salt Lake. (Tr., p. 34).

In 1972 a dispute arose between the plaintiff and defendant as to the interpretation of this leasing agreement. An action was filed in the Third Judicial District Court of Tooele County, Civil No. 7761, by plaintiffs asking for certain remedies against defendant. Plaintiff charged that the defendant had failed to maintain 24-hour-a-day service, had failed to pay rent as provided in the contract, and had failed to build a sewage lagoon as agreed upon in the leasing contract.

After extensive negotiation a stipulation was entered into between the parties supposedly resolving these issues. (Ex. P-6). The stipulation was signed on April 5, 1974 and a judgment was entered in accordance with the stipulation by the Honorable Gordon Hall on April 22, 1974. (Ex. P-7).

Approximately 1-1/2 years after the stipulation and judgment had been entered in the previous action plaintiff was forced to file the present action. Basically the same complaints were repeated in plaintiff's initial four causes of action. The first cause alleged that defendant had breached its rental agreement by failing to maintain the station on a 24-hour basis and that because plaintiff was to be paid rent based upon the number of gallons sold at the station that plaintiff had suffered a financial loss of not less than \$20,000.

The second cause of action demanded an accounting of the number of gallons sold during the period based upon information and belief that incorrect amounts were being reported to the plaintiff. The third cause of action alleged damages for failure to complete a sewage lagoon system as provided in the stipulated judgment of 1974 and sought damages of \$250 a month for the reasonable rental of a restaurant which could not be constructed until the lagoon was complete. Finally, the fourth cause of action alleged that the service station was not kept in good repair and that plaintiff was entitled to damages. (Record, hereinafter R., pp. 20-1).

An amended complaint was filed by plaintiff on March 22, 1976 adjusting the amount of damages as to the first four counts and adding a fifth cause of action for punitive damages alleging that defendant intentionally and willfully violated the terms of the lease. (R., pp. 79-76).

On March 30, 1976 defendant filed an answer to the amended complaint and a counterclaim. The counterclaim alleged that

plaintiff interrupted defendant's right of quiet enjoyment of the premises and also alleged that plaintiff interfered with defendant's efforts to construct the lagoon. Finally, defendant sought punitive damages against plaintiff for the alleged intentional interference and obstruction against defendant. (R., pp. 81-80).

On February 2, 1977 a preliminary pre-trial order was made by Judge Peter F. Leary at which time plaintiff's second cause of action for an accounting was dismissed subject to amendment. The pre-trial order also disposed of several motions made by both parties and requested memoranda as to certain legal issues. (R., pp. 245-243).

On February 10, 1977 a third amended complaint was filed by plaintiff extensively revising and clarifying the initial claims of plaintiff made in the previous two complaints and amending the second cause of action to a claim for damages resulting from incorrect reporting of gasoline sales. (R., pp. 279-271).

On April 4, 1977 a pre-trial order was entered by the Honorable Peter Leary holding, among other things, that plaintiff's third amended complaint could not be filed except as to the second cause of action and also holding that plaintiff's third cause of action relating to the failure to complete the lagoon system incorrectly stated the measure of damages as being loss of rental from the uncompleted restaurant. Rather, the court ruled that the correct measure of damages was the cost to complete the construction of the lagoon. (R., pp. 303-301).

Subsequently, on May 27, 1977 defendant moved for leave to file an amended counterclaim and answer. (R., pp. 387-381). Accordingly, the court allowed an amended answer to be filed but denied an amended counterclaim. (R., p. 389).

On June 14, 1977 a jury trial was commenced before the Honorable Peter F. Leary at the Tooele County Courthouse. At the time of trial five causes of action remained against the defendant. The first cause of action claimed that because defendant failed to keep the station open 24 hours as provided in the original lease agreement and in the prior judgment, plaintiff was financially damaged in that the rent was dependent upon the number of gallons sold per day.

The second cause of action claimed that defendant had wrongfully reported the correct number of gallons pumped each day and therefore plaintiff was damaged by the loss of the correct amount owing under the rental agreement.

The third cause of action was based upon the defendant's failure to complete the sewage lagoon as required in the lease agreement and stipulated judgment and for damages in accordance with the trial court's previous ruling based upon construction costs. The fourth cause of action claimed damages for failing to keep the station in good repair and the fifth cause of action claimed punitive damages for intentionally and knowingly violating the lease and the prior judgment of 1974.

Trial was commenced and plaintiff put on numerous witnesses and offered numerous exhibits in support of these allegations. Since this appeal primarily rests upon the sufficiency

of evidence, plaintiff-appellant will not restate the evidence offered during the trial at this time but will extensively review the evidence as to each cause of action dismissed by the trial court infra.

At the conclusion of plaintiff's evidence defendant moved for a directed verdict as to all five counts. The court granted a directed verdict as to the fifth cause of action, the fourth cause of action, the third cause of action, and the second cause of action. The court reserved its ruling as to the first cause of action until further arguments. (Tr., pp. A-45 to A-47).

On the following day the court directed a verdict as to the first cause of action stating that there was no clear evidence as to the amount of damage. (Tr., p. 533). The counterclaim of defendant was dismissed upon stipulation of the parties. (Tr., p. A-48).

Plaintiff appeals from this directed verdict.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AS TO COUNTS 1 AND 3 OF PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT.

At the conclusion of plaintiff's case the trial court directed a verdict in favor of defendant and against plaintiff on the basis that no prima facie case had been made by the plaintiff with regard to the fifth, fourth, third, and second causes of action. (Tr., p. A-45). Subsequently, the court also directed a verdict as to the first cause of action. (Tr., p. 533).

Appellant will admit for purposes of this appeal that the trial court was probably correct in directing a verdict as to the second cause of action (the alleged incorrect reporting of gallonage), the fourth cause of action (damage allegedly caused by disrepair of the station), and the fifth cause of action (punitive damages). While there was some evidence as to each of these allegations it was probably not of a sufficient quantity or quality to merit jury submission.

However, the first cause of action (damages from closure of the station) and the third cause of action (damage from failing to complete the lagoon system) were legally sufficient for submission to the jury and the court committed error in directing a verdict as to these counts.

This Court in Mildon v. Bybee, 13 Utah 2d 400, 375 P.2d 458 (1962) clearly delineated the standard to be applied in reviewing a directed verdict. This Court said:

The issue of concern here is whether, reviewing the evidence and all inferences fairly to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, a prima facie case. . .was made out. 375 P.2d at 459.

Likewise, in Flynn v. W. P. Harlin Construction Company, 29 Utah 2d 327, 509 P.2d 356 (1973) this Court stated that the trial court should not take a case from a jury where there is any substantial dispute in evidence on issues of fact and that the court can only do so when the matter is so plain that there is no conflict in evidence upon which reasonable minds could differ.

The Court in Flynn quoted with approval the statement of Justice Frick in an early decision which said:

[I]f. . .the court is in doubt whether reasonable men,. . .might arrive at different conclusions, then this very doubt determines the question to be one of fact for the jury and not one of law for the court. 509 P.2d at 361 citing Newton v. Oregon Short Line Co., 134 P. 567 (1913).

A review of the evidence in light most favorable to the plaintiff will show without doubt that plaintiff produced sufficient evidence to preclude a directed verdict as to his first and third causes of action.

A. There was Ample Evidence to Allow the Jury to Conclude that a Breach of Contract Occurred by the Closure of the Service Station and Sufficient Reliable Evidence was Presented to Allow the Jury to Determine Resulting Damages.

This lawsuit emanated from a service station lease executed on November 24, 1971 between plaintiff, Carl Winsness and Associates, lessor, and defendant, M. J. Conoco Distributing, Inc., lessee. The pertinent provisions of this lease as it relates to the first cause of action are as follows: First, paragraph 2 provided a monthly "gallonage rental" of all gasoline at a rate of \$.04 per gallon in the summer and \$.02 per gallon in the winter. Second, paragraph 19 states that neither party shall control the other party's business operation but that "The obligations of the parties are expressly confined to the performance of the terms and conditions of this lease." Finally, paragraph 24 concerned hours of the station:

It is agreed between the parties that the service station as provided herein shall be operated on a 24-hour basis and shall be open at all times to the public. (Ex. P-5)

In 1972 a lawsuit was commenced in Tooele County by plaintiff against defendant on basically the same grounds as the

present suit. One contention of plaintiff at that time was defendant's failure to keep the service station open for the 24-hour period agreed to in the leasing document. On February 26 and February 27 of 1973 a trial was held before the Honorable Gordon Hall concerning plaintiff's complaint. (Tr., p. 38). Before judgment, however, a stipulation was entered into between the parties and subsequently reduced to a stipulated judgment. (Ex. P-6 and P-7).

The judgment signed by Judge Hall provided that the lease of November 24, 1971 would remain in full force and effect "except as specifically modified by the Stipulations and Agreements as herein contained". Because of the gas shortage during that year and the difficulty in obtaining gasoline from any source the parties entered into a modification of the 24-hour provision of the original lease. The following modification is contained in the judgment:

It is agreed between the parties that the service station provided herein shall be operated on a 24-hour basis at all times to the public except if the following conditions and events occur.

1. That the Federal or State or local governments by law require the closing of the service station certain hours or days due to a shortage of petroleum products or to conserve the same or

2. If gasoline from Continental Oil or the suppliers for M. J. Conoco, Inc. are on a quota or allocation basis by virtue of existing government regulations and the quota or allocation is below the 1972 sales of 452,045 gallons of gasoline for the Delle Service Station, and M. J. Conoco, Inc. providing the allocation or quota has been sold for the previous and monthly accounting period of the lease, can regulate the hours of the operating

of the service station, providing it proportions the allocation or quota of gasoline for the next month over the number of days that the service station can be opened, but the service station must be open at least 8 hours each day. The station must be open each day until the allocation is sold and if not sold then the station must be open the next day a sufficient hours and succeeding days until the quota or allocation is sold. That in the allocation of gasoline or petroleum products M. J. Conoco will use its best effort to obtain petroleum products and gasoline at all times, and will treat all of its service stations under the allocation or quota equally, will apply surplus allocations or from the closing of other service stations proportionally to the Delle Service Station if existing Law and Government Regulations permit and will treat the Delle Service Station fairly in reference to all other service stations which it services or operates or distributes petroleum products to. (Ex. P-7, pp. 5-6). (Emphasis added).

Thus, the closure of the service station was not a new question which was raised by plaintiff in the instant case but had been an ongoing controversy since 1972 and a constant frustration.

Plaintiff offered ample evidence to show that the provision requiring the station to remain open for 24 hours a day was not being met. Plaintiff testified that during the month of May in 1974 he went to Delle, Utah approximately eight times and found the station closed three of these times mostly on Sundays. (Tr., p. 43). He stated that he contacted Dick Miller, president of the defendant, who assured him he would correct the situation. In June, however, he found the station closed again. (Tr., pp. 44-45).

In November of 1974 he met with defendant's officers and again complained that the station was not open. Stan Muir, a

partner in defendant, stated to him, "Fine, we'll take care of it. You don't have to worry about it." (Tr., p. 47).

During the Christmas holidays that year plaintiff found the station closed a number of times including a period of four consecutive days. (Tr., p. 48). In the early part of 1975 he also found the station closed repeatedly. (Tr., p. 50).

On January 7, 1975 plaintiff's attorney wrote to Richard Miller and stated, "We intend to hold you for all damages, for loss of sales in reference to gasoline and furthermore notify you that we immediately demand that the service station be kept open 24 hours a day". (Ex. P-55). This letter was followed by subsequent letters of April 11, 1975 (Ex. P-56) and April 14 (Ex. P-58).

In March of 1976 plaintiff called Lynn Kirkham who worked at M. J. Conoco and complained about the station being closed. (Tr., p. 52). On March 9, 1976 plaintiff's attorney again wrote to defendant and stated:

This is to further notify you that my clients have informed this office that they have never agreed at any time to allow you not to keep the station open for 24 hours or waive the 24 hour provision and we have sent notice after notice to you in reference to this matter. (Ex. P-60).

Finally, a letter was sent August 4, 1976 again reiterating the terms of the lease and asking for compliance. (Ex., p. 61).

Plaintiff testified as to various pictures taken throughout the years and how the station was closed in each instance even when the sign on the door said OPEN. (See Exhibits P-9, P-10, P-18, P-19, P-20, P-26, P-28, and P-29; Tr., pp. 54-79).

Mildred Sims testified that she was the lessee of the adjoining restaurant and operated it from 1973 until 1976. (Tr., p. 174). She stated that initially the restaurant was kept open for 24 hours but because the station was not kept continuously open people on the highway could not see the facility from the road and she thus decided to close as she was doing no business. (Tr., p. 177).

In 1974 Mrs. Sims called Lynn Kirkham herself and reported that the station had been closed for as long as two or three consecutive days. He told her he would do something about it but didn't. (Tr., p. 179). She stated that she used to have a doctor's appointment every Thursday morning and that many a Thursday morning she would pull into the station and the station would be closed. (Tr., p. 183).

In the wintertime she testified that she would be awakened constantly by people wanting gas and that she even drained her own car to help them. (Tr., p. 185). Mrs. Sims testified that many people became angry because the service station was closed and that she had numerous confrontations during the three years with upset travelers. (Tr., pp. 210-211). Finally, she stated that while most of her business occurred during the weekends that this was the time when the station was usually closed. (Tr., p. 212).

Plaintiff called William Woffinden who had been a highway patrolman for 10-1/2 years assigned to the Wendover Road. (Tr. p. 214). He stated that the station was hardly ever open on nightshifts and that on weekends some of the help who were

hired would leave as soon as the boss drove out of the driveway. (Tr., p. 222).

The officer further stated that the service station was closed much of the time before midnight (Tr., p. 234) and that if the lights of the service station were not on the Delle Complex could not be seen by eastbound freeway traffic. (Tr., p. 243).

With regard to the gas shortage the officer testified that in 1974 the traffic was reduced but that at the time of trial it had picked up to its normal pace and in fact was heavier than ever. (R., p. 235). He also stated that a service station known as "Teddy Bear's Service" in Knolls was doing its best business that year and he could not see why Delle could not do the same if the hours were also the same. (Tr., p. 239).

Myron Baird, vice president of Teddy Bear's Service Station, testified that he frequently went by the service station during the time period in question and that while it was open every time during the day it was closed after 8:00 p.m.

Richard Miller, defendant's former president, was called to testify by plaintiff and stated he remembered being told twice by plaintiff that the station was not open. (Tr., p. 413). He could not remember receiving any of the letters sent by plaintiff's attorney. (Tr., pp. 416-418).

Jack Woods testified that he worked as a gasoline service station attendant in the facility between October, 1974 and March of 1975. (Tr., p. 435). He stated that the service station was closed about 50 per cent of the time when he arrived

for his shift. (Tr., p. 436). He further testified that on Saturdays the station would not be open until about 1:30 p.m. because of errands he had to run. (Tr., p. 438).

Thus, while it is true that plaintiff did not have a log showing the operation of the station during each hour of the disputed period it is clear that the evidence was sufficient to show that the service station was not being kept open on a 24-hour-a-day basis as provided in the stipulation and lease agreement. Although the estimates of the witnesses varied as to the amount of time the station was actually closed and as to the days and hours, the jury could have chosen to believe any, all, or none of the witnesses. Of course, the jury never had this opportunity.

As to the amount of damages sustained by the closure, plaintiff first attempted to introduce Exhibit 35 which was a breakdown of the number of gallons sold each month in 1972. Plaintiff testified that during this year the gas station was open on a 24-hour basis. (Tr., p. 96). As will be discussed infra the trial court committed serious error in failing to admit Exhibit 35 into evidence since such exhibit provided a past history of the service station's sales upon which a solid foundation could be based for an estimation of damages occurring from the early closures.

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