1978

# Karl Winsness and Associates, A Partnership v. M.J. Conoco Distributors, Inc., A Utah Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### Point I

THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFF ON ITS FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AND IS CORRECT IN LAW.

This Court has held on numerous occasions that it is error for the Court to allow the jury to speculate on the evidence, and that unless there is competent evidence to support a cause of action the trial judge should not submit the question to the jury. In Jackson v. Colston et al., 209 P.2d 566, 116 Utah 295, Justice Latimer speaking for the majority stated:

"It is fundamental . . . that the Court may not permit the jury to speculate concerning defendants'

liability; Dern Inv. Co. v. Carbon County Land Co., 94 Utah 76, 75 P.2d 660; and that the court is required to direct a verdict unless there is evidence from which the jury could reasonably find in favor of the plaintiff."

See also Olson et al. v. Warwood et al., 225 P.2d 725, 119 Utah 175; and Moore v. Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Co., 292 P.2d 849, 4 Utah 2d 255.

In the present case Plaintiff's evidence was such that Judge Leary had no choice but to direct a verdict in favor of the Defendant on Plaintiff's first cause of action. While Plaintiff's witnesses testified that on several unspecified occasions the station was closed, not one of them testified as to what caused the closure or the duration of the closure. Plaintiff testified that he did not know why the service station was closed except that the operator on one occasion said he was tired. (Tr. 156) Mildred Sims, after admitting that there had been problems in getting help both at the current restaurant facility, which is approximately one-half mile from the service station, and at the service station, admitted that she didn't know the reason why the station had been closed on several occasions. (Tr. 203) If there was any consistent pattern running throughout all of the testimony given by Plaintiff's witnesses it was that there was always difficulty in getting help at the service station, and that they were not aware of the reasons behind the

service station being closed at various times. Defendant submits that there was no evidence before the Court to aid the jury in determining whether Defendant had breached the lease agreement by not operating the service station on a 24-hour basis. The fact that the station was closed periodically was not evidence that Defendant was not making every effort to run the station on a 24-hour basis. Taking the evidence in a light most favorable to Plaintiff the jury had no guidance as to the number of times the station was closed, the time of day, how long it was closed or the reason for the closure. It would have been pure speculation on the jury's part as to why the station was closed, the duration of the closure, and whether any of the closures resulted in a breach of the lease, or would have been excused as unavoidable. There were no parameters for the jury's guidance in assessing the damages, if any, occasioned by the closures of the station. Any action by the jury to assess damages would of necessity have been entirely conjectural and speculative.

The rule for determination of damages recoverable by a plaintiff is summarized in 22 Am. Jur. 2d, Sec. 24, wherein it states:

"The principle which will not allow the recovery of damages when their existence rests solely on speculation applies both to the fact of damages and to their cause. Thus, a plaintiff cannot recover damages by proving only that the defendant has unlawfully violated some duty owing to the plaintiff,

leaving the trier of fact to speculate as to the damages; he must go further and prove the nature and extent of the damage suffered by the plaintiff and that the breach of duty was the legal cause of that damage. Leaving either of these damage questions to speculation on the part of the trier of fact will prevent recovery. Therefore, no recovery can be had in those cases in which it is uncertain whether the plaintiff suffered any damage. Also, no recovery is allowed when resort to speculation or conjecture is necessary to determine whether the damage resulted from the unlawful act of which complaint is made or from some other source. . . ."

In the present case, Plaintiff failed to show with any degree of certainty that he was in fact damaged. Further, Plaintiff did not introduce any competent evidence that he suffered any damage caused by the isolated closures of the service station.

In Graham v. Street, 270 P.2d 456, 2 Utah 2d 144, this Court held:

"Only such damages are recoverable as are shown with reasonable certainty to have been sustained. Remote, contingent and conjectural losses will not be considered."

The rent provision of the lease reads as follows:

"RENT. To pay to the lessor a monthly 'gallonage' rental on all gasoline and other motor fuel excluding diesel fuel sold to the storage tanks on the premises as follows:

(a) For a period commencing May 15th through and including September 15th of the same year, payment shall be made at the rate of four cents (.04¢) per gallon; for the period commencing September 16th

through and including May 14th of the following year, payment shall be made at the rate of two cents (.02¢) per gallon.

(b) To pay to the lessor as a monthly gallonage rental on all diesel fuel sold at the subject premises for the period commencing May 15th through and including September 15th of the same year, payment shall be made at the rate of three cents (.03¢) per gallon, and for the period commencing September 16th through and including May 14th of the following year, payments shall be made at the rate of two cents (.02¢) per gallon.

(c) In addition to the gallonage rentals above provided for, lessee shall pay to the lessor the sum of \$300.00 per calendar month as 'ground rent' which shall be due and payable in advance on the first day of each calendar month. The \$300.00 ground rent shall be applied first against the \$6,321.15 bill outstanding less payments which have been made on the prior lease dated the 9th day of January, 1970." (Ex. P-5)

There is no evidence whatever in the record to show that Plaintiff had not been paid the exact amount due him under the rental provisions of the lease. It is important to note that the lease does not require the Defendant to sell any particular quantity of gasoline whatever but only to pay to the Plaintiff the agreed upon ground rental and the gallonage rental on the gasoline actually sold. The lease is clear on its face concerning the rental payments and there is no contention by Plaintiff that the Defendant failed to pay rentals in accordance with the lease. Plaintiff complains that if the station had been kept open more, more gasoline would have been sold. This calls for speculation

on two premises; (1) the failure to have the station open was the fault of the Defendant. There is no conclusive evidence on this point; and (2) that had the station been open, more gasoline would have been sold. There is no evidence of any kind on this point. The jury would have been left to unlimited speculation in making a determination of damages on the Plaintiff's claim.

Plaintiff's only witness concerning the damages occasioned by Defendant's alleged failure to operate the service station on a 24-hour basis was Delbert Taylor, who had been a district sales representative for Husky Oil Company. (Tr. 446) Mr. Taylor testified that he had made estimates of the gallonage that several existing service stations owned by Husky Oil should pump if they were operating at full capacity. (Tr. 449-450) He stated that in making his projections he took into consideration location, traffic count and past history. (Tr. 472) He further stated that based upon the traffic count, location and amount of gallonage pumped at the Delle service station in 1971, it was his opinion that the station should pump three times as much gallonage as it was pumping.

The witness also testified that based upon the traffic count, which showed that, for example, the peak traffic at the Delle station on July 10, 1976, occurred between the hours of 11:00 o'clock at night and 12:00 a.m., he determined that the

station should be operated on a 24-hour-a-day basis. (Tr. 459, 462) However, it was later stipulated to by all counsel that Mr. Taylor had made a mistake in reading the traffic count in that the peak hour of traffic was from 11:00 o'clock a.m. to 12:00 p.m., rather than from 11:00 p.m. to 12:00 a.m. as previously testified to by Mr. Taylor. (Tr. A-3) This error is extremely important inasmuch as the witness had testified earlier that his opinion concerning the hours of operation of the service station was based primarily upon the traffic count.

Defendant submits that Mr. Taylor's testimony concerning the service station at Delle was totally lacking in credibility. He stated that if the station were open 24 hours a day it would do three times the business, yet he admitted that he had no personal knowledge of what percent of the time the station was presently open. His testimony concerning the 24-hour operation was based on a traffic count, however he later admitted that he had erred in his reading of the traffic count. He testified that his opinion was based to some extent on past performance, namely 1971, yet he admitted the circumstances had changed drastically since 1971. Further, the fact of the matter is that the station in question was not even built until the middle of 1972. (Tr. 96)

The clearest example of the lack of credibility of Mr. Taylor's testimony is found in reading the transcript of the trial wherein Mr. Taylor, in answer to a question posed to



him by Plaintiff's own counsel concerning the projections he had made for other gas stations, stated:

"Well, the projections I made for the service station, of course, I knew every aspect about the particular location. . . . That's every aspect. I knew the past history of them, I knew what the operator was like, I knew what the upkeep and maintenance of the service station, I knew what it looked like, I knew what the location was; whether or not it was easy to get in and out of, and everything that was in consideration. . . . That way I could pick and choose it much better." (Tr. 505)

In regard to the service station at Delle, Mr. Taylor admitted that he knew very little about the station or the conditions existing there with exception of the traffic count which he had misinterpreted. This witness' testimony lacked the credibility to permit submission to the jury. The Court, as a matter of law, could not submit this testimony, flawed as it was by the error in reading the traffic count on which Mr. Taylor based his computations and his admitted lack of knowledge of the other factors which he testified were essential to an adequate evaluation. It is further to be noted that Plaintiff did not offer any correction or revision of the testimony of this witness after these fundamental errors were manifested. The Court, therefore, had no choice but to take this matter from the jury as there was no other evidence from which the jury could draw any conclusion as to the purported loss of business.

In 1972 Justice Ellett wrote the following concerning speculative damages:

"If there is substantial evidence to support the findings upon which the judgment is rendered, the judgment must be sustained. The fact that it is difficult to calculate damages will not prevent an injured party from recovery. However, a judgment cannot be based upon mere speculation. . . Kratzer lost one day's sale of bread because of the wrongful eviction; but since it was in business after a few hours' delay, it is not possible to say with any degree of certainty how much damage was caused to it other than the loss of the sale for that one day. Under the evidence given in this case any other damage which can be ascribed to the wrongful conduct of the appellant is purely speculative." Monter v. Kratzers Specialty Bread Co., 29 Utah 2d 18, 504 P.2d 40 (1972) (Emphasis added)

In the Kratzer case, supra, there was a wrongful eviction which resulted in some definable damage from the bakery being closed. In the case at bar there is no evidence of the exact time when the station was closed, why the station was closed, or how long it was closed. For the trial judge to have permitted the jury to speculate not only as to whether there was a breach of the lease, but the duration of the breach and the damages resulting therefrom, if any, would have allowed a degree of speculation and conjecture which this Court has never permitted.

Defendant submits the calculation of damages, if any, by the jury in this case would have been impossible and that Judge Leary followed clearly established principles of law as

set forth in the cases cited above by granting Defendant's motion for a directed verdict as to Plaintiff's first cause of action.

## Point II

THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFF ON ITS THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AND IS CORRECT IN LAW.

Plaintiff's third cause of action was for an alleged breach of the lease agreement as modified by a stipulation and subsequent judgment entered April 22, 1974. Plaintiff contends that Defendant had failed to complete the lagoon system called for in those two documents. Defendant answered asserting that it had, in fact, built the lagoon system and that any delay in its completion was the result of governmental agencies and the Plaintiff, whose actions were beyond the control of the Defendant.

The provision of the 1974 judgment which relates to the lagoon system reads as follows:

"The lagoon system provided for under the terms of this Stipulation shall be designed and constructed at the sole expense and cost of Defendant. Said lagoon system will be constructed in a square configuration which square shall be twenty (20) feet wider than the width of the ponds presently engineered by Nielsen and Maxwell Engineers. The lagoon system shall be designed and constructed to comply with the minimum requirements of the State of Utah and the County of Tooele. All expenses and costs of maintenance and operation of the lagoon system after completion of construction shall be borne equally

by the parties. Each of the parties shall bear their own costs of connecting their respective facilities to the pump station.

"That Defendant will commence construction of the lagoon system at Delle, Utah, within a reasonable time after execution of this Stipulation and will complete the same within one (1) year from March 8, 1974, except as may be excused due to acts of God, or other causes beyond the control of Defendant." (Ex. P-7)

Following the 1974 judgment Defendant began to construct the lagoon system and in fact the system was completed in August, 1974. (Ex. P-38) From August, 1974, until the time of trial Defendant had attempted to get final approval from the State Department of Health which has been denied for various reasons. Plaintiff produced no evidence at trial to dispute the fact that Defendant had indeed constructed a lagoon system as required by the stipulation. Instead, Plaintiff argued that Defendant had breached its duty under the stipulation because final approval had not been given on the system by the State Board of Health. (Tr. 403, 407)

Plaintiff called Art Maxwell who was the original engineer hired to develop the plans for the lagoon system. On cross-examination Mr. Maxwell gave the following testimony concerning the feasibility of operating a lagoon system using only the waste water from the existing service station:

"Very difficult, unless you--unless you pumped in or brought in from some other sources some to start it.

"That 2,000 gallons a day would-- would strike a level some place where as the surface area increased the evaporation would increase, and it would start taking up its full 2,000.

"Basing the 5,000 gallons on a need for two ponds, it would appear that through the winter months that would build up to perhaps five feet of depth in one pond; just taking 40 percent of the total area.

"And in the summer months it would probably reduce that down to where you may have less than three feet.

"At best I would say the operation would be very difficult with only a service station under full water supply; yes." (Tr. 280-281)  
(Emphasis added)

The State Division of Health recognized this problem and allowed Defendant to construct a small lagoon within the first lagoon to handle the waste water until the restaurant facilities were built. (Ex. P-47, paragraph 5)

Defendant's construction of the lagoon system, at the very least, substantially complied with the provisions of the 1974 stipulation. The doctrine of substantial performance well stated by the Nevada Supreme Court in Sharp v. Twin Lakes Corp., 283 P.2d 611, wherein Chief Justice Merrill ruled:

"It is now well established as the general rule with respect to building contracts that the law implies a substantial rather than a literal or exact performance of the terms of the contract. See Lloyd on the Law of Building and Buildings, 2d Ed. Sec. 31, 39; 9 Am. Jur. 30, Building and Construction Contracts, Sec. 40; Annotations 24 L.R.A.,

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